RECEIVED

OCT 1 6 2018 WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

3.B

No. 76458-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEPHEN AND SANDRA KLINEBURGER,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY

Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Allen T. Miller, WSBA# 12936 Attorney for Petitioners Law Office of Allen T. Miller PLLC 1801 West Bay Drive NW, Suite 205 Olympia, WA 98502 360-754-9156 allen@atmlawoffice.com

FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners, Stephen and Sandra Klineburger, respectfully request the Supreme Court to review the Court of Appeals' decisions referred to in Section II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISIONS

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, the Petitioners respectfully ask the Court to review the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion filed August 13, 2018 and the subsequent denial of the motion for reconsideration filed September 14, 2018.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals denied Appellants due process under the Fourteenth Amendment as a regulatory taking when it permitted Ecology to impose a per se "assumed" flood related erosion to Appellants application to rebuild a substantially damaged dwelling in an area designated as a channel migration zone of the Snoqualmie River.

2. Whether the Court of Appeals denied Appellants denied Appellants equal protection under the law when it permitted Ecology to impose a higher "assumed" flood related erosion standard to Appellants

application to rebuild a substantially damaged dwelling in an area designated as a channel migration zone of the Snoqualmie River.

• •

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Stephen and Sandra Klineburger (Appellants) are the record owners of parcel no. 0323089039 in the RA-10 zone, the address of which is 9609 428th Avenue SE, North Bend, Washington. The Klineburgers purchased the property on July 7, 2011.

The Klineburgers scheduled pre-application meetings with King County in 2012 where they submitted the Taylor Engineering reports regarding projects built in the floodplain, all of which were granted permits. CP 278, lines 1-4. The Klineburgers' is the only floodplain project Mr. Taylor has worked on where the request was denied. CP 278, lines 21-22.

A letter from the State Department of Ecology on October 22, 2012 (CP 381-382) was a response to the Taylor Engineering report of July 27, 2012. (CP 409-410). Taylor Engineering then issued a rebuttal report, (CP 423-435) dated October 29, 2012 (CP 436-438). On December 18, 2012 the department of Ecology issued a letter that no development should be allowed on the Klineburgers' property.

The Klineburgers requested a hearing regarding determination and one was held in March of 2013. They submitted all of their evidence, including testimony from two experts, as to why their property qualified for either an exception to development in the floodplain or a ruling the lot was not in the floodway because the adjacent road amounted to a flood management device preventing flooding, which would remove the lot from the floodway map.

The Hearing Examiner decided the County had to follow the recommendation of the Washington State Department of Ecology and, therefore, once the Department of Ecology decided a permit could not be granted there was nothing the County could do and the Hearing Examiner did not have the authority to overrule the Department of Ecology.

Klineburgers found themselves before the Superior Court in a somewhat nonconventional process whereby, they appealed a denial of an appeal of a Code Enforcement action on the basis the decision by the County/State of Washington was erroneous. There never had been a permit applied for in this matter, therefore there was no official denial of a permit, just an "advisory recommendation" to not allow the foundation request for the residence.

The Superior Court reversed the decision of the Hearing Examiner and held the Superior Court had jurisdiction to review the Department of

Ecology's decision to determine if DOE and King County correctly interpreted and applied the law to the facts in the case. CP 157. The Superior Court also held it had a definite and firm conviction a mistake had been made. It remanded the matter to the County, ordering the County to allow the Klineburgers to apply for permits needed to legalize their home. The permit was to be processed with the requirement the four criteria in WAC 173-158-076(1)(a)(b) and King County 21A.24.26(G)(1)(a)(b) were met. CP 158. The Pollution Control Hearings Board (PCHB) dismissed the Klineburgers' appeal on Summary Judgment. The Superior Court and the Court of Appeals affirmed. This Petition asks for reversal.

V. ARGUMENT FOR WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Petition for Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Court in *Powers v. Skagit County*, 67 Wn. App. 180, 835 P. 2d 230, 1992. In addition, this case should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because a significant question of law under the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States is involved.

The Supreme Court should reverse the Court of Appeals' decision and rule that the Klineburgers' takings and substantive due process claims are ripe and WAC 173-151-076(1) (b) is unconstitutional under <u>Lucas v.</u> <u>South Carolina Coastal Council (No. 91-453) 505 U.S. 1003, 12 S.Ct.</u> 2886, 120 L.Ed 2d 798 (1992) and <u>Powers v. Skagit County</u>, 67 Wn. App. 180, 835 P. 2d 230, (1992).

VI. ANALYSIS

The Klineburgers' appeal should not have been dismissed. The United States Constitution provides, in pertinent part:

No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges and immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

U.S. Const. amend XIV, §1.

.

Under <u>Powers v. Skagit County</u>, 67 Wn. App. 180, 835 P.2d 230, (1992) the landowner claimed that state and county regulations that prohibited development in floodways and the county's adoption of floodway maps placing his property within the floodway deprived him of all economically viable uses of his property. The landowner brought an action against the

county and the state for a writ of mandamus, money damages, and for a denial of substantive due process. The trial court granted summary judgment to the county and the state. The Court of Appeals reversed and held that an issue of material fact existed with regard to the landowner's "taking" claim where there was a question as to whether the landowner's property had any economically viable use remaining under the regulations. The landowner had the right to demonstrate that the regulations stripped his property of all economically viable use to state a "taking" claim.

Here, the Klineburgers have raised issues of fact to show the substantive due process violations and taking claims are ripe.

1. The flood depth is less than three feet

The Department of Ecology has misinterpreted the Taylor report to argue that the flood depth on the Klineburger property is greater than three feet. In the Taylor Engineering report, there is language on one of the attachments which said "adjust finished grade as necessary to maintain 426.92 elevation." CP 409.

Mr. Taylor testified before the Pollution Control Hearings Board (PCHB) this language was meant as a "construction directive" to the contractor to adjust the grading to return it to its pre-existing condition before construction. CP 280, lines 12-18. Unfortunately, PCHB interpreted the language of the Taylor Engineering Report to mean the engineer was

recommending fill be brought in, which caused Ecology to claim the criterion had not been met, because fill is not allowed.

Mr. Taylor explained the methods by which he calculated the flood depths of 423.92 at the northwest corner of the structure and the flood depths are on the FEMA maps show the flood depth at that location is 426.92, which is a depth of 3.00 feet. CP 416.

These elevations were confirmed three times by a surveyor, and Mr. Taylor testified the reason for this triple confirmation was Ecology kept challenging their figures, and Mr. Taylor wanted to be sure these were accurate and reliable figures. CP 292, lines 1-5.

2. No Evidence of Flood-Related Erosion

In Ecology's October 22, 2012 letter, Ecology determined there was a hazard of erosion by merely referring to WAC 173-158-076(1)(b), stating a channel migration zone indicates a high probability of erosion, and concluding because the map indicates the house is within the channel migration zone, there must be erosion . CP 381-382.

If, in determining whether a building site is subject to erosion, one could merely say the building is within the floodway map and is therefore in danger of erosion, there would never be any houses built in the floodway. CP 293, lines 1-7. Mr. Taylor has had over 27 residential projects build in the floodway, all of which were granted permits. CP 278,

lines 1-4. In fact, the Klineburgers' house is the only riverside project Mr. Taylor has worked on where the request was denied. CP 278, lines 21-22.

٠.

Mr. Taylor testified making a visual inspection of the site is the standard in the industry, and he has never done a project where he did not make a visual inspection to investigate for signs of erosion. CP 285, lines 10-15. In cases where erosion is present, one would see signs of movement of earth, in case of embankments, or changes in the terrain, or damage to vegetation. CP 285, lines 19-22. He explained "when we are talking about erosion, it usually refers to soil, so we would be looking for damages to vegetative surfaces and indications that would cause movement of soil as a result of water flow." CP 286, lines 2-4.

Mr. Taylor talked with property owners, neighbors, and other people living in the area, including Ms. Stoppard, who lived across from the property for 53 years and had never seen any floodwaters on the Klineburgers lot. Mr. Taylor concluded, as a result of the conversations he had with the area property owners and the numerous projects his team has worked on in the Snoqualmie River Valley and the Middle Fork, he has never seen any erosion problems in the vicinity of the Klineburgers lot. CP 283, lines 19-22; CP 284, lines 1-3.

The requirement is "no evidence" of flood-related erosion, not whether the land is in a mapped area where there might be erosion. WAC

173-158-076(1)(b); *See also* CP 381. Ecology made its decision without making a site visit or checking any data for flooding or river activity around this lot. It merely cited the definition of a channel migration zone which took sixty seconds worth of effort, and determined this project did not meet the criterion of "no evidence" of erosion.

3. It must be Determined There is a Flood Warning System or Emergency Plan in Operation.

Mr. Taylor testified of the 27 floodplain permits he has successfully obtained in the past, never has there ever been any requirement there be a County warning system or a flood warning system in place. CP 295, lines 14-22; CP 296, lines 1-7. This was not an issue needed to be addressed on any of his previous residential projects in the floodway. *Id.* Mr. Kemp testified likewise, in the dozens of houses he has worked on in the area, he has never had to prove there was a flood warning system in place or there was a 12-hour warning system in place. CP 309, lines 12- 22.

In response to the indication in Ecology's October 22, 2012 letter at CP 381, stating there was no indication of any flood-warning system or emergency plan in operation on the Middle Fork of the Snoqualmie River, Taylor Engineering submitted a second report on October 29, 2012. CP 423-424.

In this report, Taylor Engineering attached a number of documents indicating what kind of flood warning system was in place in King County. CP 425-435. The document which begins at CP 433 specifically details warning services on the Snoqualmie River, both on the Middle and North Fork. There are numerous emergency warning systems in place for the Snoqualmie River, which include public broadcast through King County's monitoring and gauging stations, which send text messages to one's cell phone as an advance warning of a flood. CP 296, lines 1-7.

The idea of a 12-hour warning system is something done on the Mississippi River, because that river allows for such an early warning system. *Id.* lines 11-19. Such a system could not apply to the Snoqualmie River because flood prediction for the Snoqualmie River is based on weather forecasts and rainfall events, which means implementation of a 12-hour warning system is impossible for the Klineburgers' lot or for any lot on the Snoqualmie River. *Id.*

In a second letter, on December 18, 2012, Ecology acknowledged the material supplied by Taylor Engineering may demonstrate the existence of a flood warning system applicable to this case. CP 384.

Mr. Klineburger, furthermore, testified before the Hearing Examiner he subscribes to the King County and Floodzilla flood warning services, which provide him with periodic water level updates throughout the day.

See CP 319 – 320. To support his testimony he was subscribed to flood warning services, Mr. Klineburger submitted a copy of his Floodzilla printout, marked Exhibit 31 CP 487.

٠,

Clearly there are issues of fact which do not allow dismissal of constitutional claims.

VII. CONCLUSION

The Court should reverse the Court of Appeals' opinion since the Klineburgers takings and substantive due process claims are ripe regarding the application of and WAC 173-151-076(1)(b) being unconstitutional under the Fourteenth Amendment.