FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/5/2018 3:02 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96423-8

Court of Appeals Cause No. 76458-6-1

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STEPHEN AND SANDRA KLINEBURGER,

Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondent.

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S RESPONSE TO KLINEBURGERS' MOTION FOR EXTENSION OF TIME AND ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KATHARINE G. SHIREY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 35736

PO Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 360-586-6770 kay.shirey@atg.wa.gov Office ID No. 91024

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners Stephen and Sandra Klineburger seek review of an unpublished Court of Appeals decision rejecting their regulatory takings, substantive due process, and equal protection claims. Because they filed their Petition for Review (Petition) late, they also seek an extension of time. Pursuant to the clerk's letter of November 5, 2018, Respondent Department of Ecology submits this combined response to the Klineburger's motion for extension of time and answer to their Petition.

The Klineburgers' request for an extension of time should be denied because they fail to demonstrate extraordinary circumstances warranting an extension. Their motion establishes nothing more than that their attorney is busy—they make no mention of any particular circumstance or event excusing the late submission of their Petition. As a result, the Court should not consider the Klineburgers' Petition. However, if the Court does consider the Klineburgers' Petition, it should be denied because the Klineburgers do not establish any of the grounds for review in RAP 13.4.

The Klineburgers base their Petition on the claim that the Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with *Powers v. Skagit County*, 67 Wn. App. 180, 835 P.2d 230 (1992). In fact, the Court of Appeals decision here is consistent with *Powers*. The Klineburgers also claim their

1

takings and substantive due process claims are ripe under *Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council*, 505 U.S. 1003, 112 S. Ct. 2886,

120 L.Ed. 798 (1992). However, they provide no facts or argument to support this claim or to establish that they have been deprived of all economically viable use of their property. The Klineburgers cite no basis for review of their equal protection claim.

Because the Klineburgers fail to identify any viable basis for Supreme Court review, Ecology asks this Court to deny their request for review.

#### II. THE KLINEBURGERS' MOTION FOR EXTENSION OF TIME SHOULD BE DENIED

The Klineburgers filed their Petition for Review one day late. Under RAP 18.8(b), a late filed petition will be accepted only in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice. Here, the Klineburgers have identified no extraordinary circumstances justifying a delay, nor will there be a miscarriage of justice if the Court declines to consider their Petition.

The only explanation the Klineburgers provide for their late filing is that the Klineburgers' attorney had four other matters in process at the time the Klineburgers' Petition was due. Klineburger Motion to Extend Time by Day to File Petition for Review (Motion). This explanation describes a busy law office, but does not describe extraordinary circumstances justifying a late filing at the Supreme Court.

The Klineburgers do not explain what had to be done for the four matters identified, or when. Nor do they identify any unforeseen, exigent or emergent proceedings in any of the four matters identified. Thus, there is no evidence that anything about the situation constitutes extraordinary circumstances.

One of the matters the Klineburgers cite is a trial scheduled for October 17, 2018. Motion at 2. The Klineburgers do not explain why they were unable to plan to meet the 30-day Supreme Court deadline for filing in the Klineburger case while preparing for the trial or to file a motion for an extension of time with the Supreme Court before the October 15, 2018 deadline.

As discussed below, the Klineburgers do not identify any viable grounds under RAP 13.4 for the Supreme Court to hear this case. Therefore, there will be no gross miscarriage of justice if the Court declines review. Ecology therefore asks the Court to deny the Klineburgers' Motion.

///

///

///

#### III. THE KLINEBURGERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED ON ITS MERITS

#### A. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The Klineburgers' Petition is untimely and does not meet the

RAP 13.4 criteria for discretionary review. Therefore, it should be denied.

However, if review is granted, the issues would be:

- 1. Does the application of state laws designed to protect the public from the hazards of flooding violate the Klineburgers' substantive due process rights and constitute an impermissible regulatory taking of the Klineburgers' property?
- 2. Does the consistent application of state laws designed to protect the public from the hazards of flooding deny the Klineburgers equal protection under the law?

#### **B.** COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Statutory Background

In order to protect the public from flood hazards, state law

prohibits, with a few exceptions, residential development in a Federal

Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) floodway.

RCW 86.16.041(2)(a). The reason for this prohibition is that the FEMA

floodway is the area where the depths and velocities of floodwater are the

greatest. 44 C.F.R. § 9.4 (2009) (entry for *Floodway*); see also

Administrative Record 472 (diagram showing the relative locations of the

floodway, floodplain, and the base flood elevation).<sup>1</sup> The statute allows repairs, reconstruction, or improvements to a residential structure in the floodway only if the cost of the repairs, reconstruction, or improvements does not exceed 50 percent of the market value of the structure.

RCW 86.16.041(2)(a). However, there is an exception that allows a property owner to rebuild a substantially damaged residential structure in the floodway under certain circumstances. RCW 86.16.041(4). This exception requires Ecology "to assess the risk of harm to life and property posed by the specific conditions of the floodway" and determine when, in its best professional judgment, the risks are low enough to allow a substantially damaged structure in the floodway to be rebuilt. *Id*. In its assessment, Ecology is required to make a "scientific analysis of depth, velocity, and flood-related erosion." RCW 86.16.041(4). The law also requires Ecology to adopt rules guiding the assessment procedures and criteria to be used. RCW 86.16.041(5).

Ecology adopted WAC 173-158-076, which sets forth the conditions that must be met before Ecology will recommend that a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Index to the Clerk's Papers for Cause No. 76458-6-1 identifies the administrative record that was provided by the Pollution Control Hearings Board to the Superior Court as one document with no separate page numbers. For the convenience of the court, and to avoid confusion, at the Court of Appeals for Cause No. 76458-6-1, both Ecology and the Klineburgers used the page numbers in that record. For consistency's sake, that is how the documents are cited in this brief.

substantially damaged residential structure in the floodway be rebuilt. WAC 173-158-076(1)(b) provides that a substantially damaged residential structure in the floodway may only be rebuilt if there is no evidence of flood-related erosion. It further provides that the location of a project inside both a floodway and a channel migration zone<sup>2</sup> constitutes evidence of flood-related erosion. WAC 173-158-076(1)(b).

Relevant here, FEMA has determined that the area where the Klineburger property is located is in the 100-year floodplain and in the associated floodway.<sup>3</sup> AR 56, 153, 157. King County has determined that the Klineburgers' property is in the channel migration zone of the three-forks area of the Snoqualmie River. AR 149, 153, 155, 205.

#### 2. **Procedural History**

The Klineburgers seek to rebuild a substantially damaged residence in the floodway and channel migration zone of the Snoqualmie River. They have been through two separate rounds of litigation in this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The channel migration zone is the area where over which river is known to have migrated in the past and is expected to migrate in the future. AR 65, 149, 151, 165. Unlike the FEMA floodway, channel migration zones are identified solely by local governments. WAC 173-26-201(3)(c)(vii), -221(3)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Klineburgers use the terms "floodway" and "floodplain" interchangeably. However, the terms are different and refer to different areas. The floodway is the area within the floodplain where the depths and velocities of floodwater are the greatest. 44 C.F.R. § 9.4 (2009)(entry for *Floodway*); *see also* AR 472 (diagram showing the relative locations of the floodway, floodplain, and the base flood elevation). Keeping the floodway clear is necessary because the floodway drains the flood. *Id.* For these reasons, development in the floodway is more strictly regulated than development in the floodplain.

effort. In their current Petition for Review, the Klineburgers confuse these two efforts. Both cases are described below to provide a complete history and to clarify the issues and the record that are before the Court in this second round from the issues and record that were litigated in the first round.<sup>4</sup>

The Klineburgers' first round of litigation began as a code enforcement action brought by King County against the Klineburgers for illegally placing a mobile home on their property. AR 222 ¶ 1. The previous residence on the property had been destroyed. *Id.* ¶ 4. When the Klineburgers sought to obtain the required permits for the mobile home, the County, on the recommendation of Ecology, determined that the Klineburgers' project did not meet the requirements under RCW 86.16.041 and WAC 173-158-076 for rebuilding a substantially damaged residential structure in the floodway. AR 223 ¶¶ 6, 7. The Klineburgers appealed this determination to the King County Hearing Examiner, who found that the County was bound by Ecology's recommendation. AR 224 ¶ 2, AR 225 ¶ 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For example, the citations to Clerk's Papers in the Klineburgers' Petition to the Clerk's Papers from the first round at the Court of Appeals; they are not to the Clerk's Papers from this case. The documents the Klineburgers cite are in the record for this case, and appended to this brief in a table cross referencing the first round Clerk's Papers citations used by the Klineburgers in their Petition and the citations to those same documents in this litigation.

The Klineburgers appealed the Hearing Examiner's decision to King County Superior Court. The King County Superior Court agreed that Ecology's recommendation governed the County, but overruled Ecology's determination and found that the Klineburgers' project met the requirements for rebuilding a substantially damaged residential structure in the floodway. AR 227–31. Ecology was not a party to either the County Hearing Examiner proceeding or the superior court proceeding. AR 217 ¶ 4.

King County appealed the superior court decision to the Court of Appeals (AR 233–34), and Ecology intervened. AR 241–42. The Court of Appeals ruled that the superior court did not have jurisdiction to review Ecology's determination, and that the Klineburgers should have appealed that determination to the Pollution Control Hearings Board (Board). AR 244–64. The Klineburgers sought review of that decision in this Court. AR 266–89. However, the Klineburgers withdrew their petition for review and ended the first round of litigation when Ecology agreed to reissue its determination concerning their project, and provide the Klineburgers with the opportunity to appeal Ecology's determination to the Board.

AR 332–37.

The current round of litigation began when the Klineburgers appealed Ecology's reissued determination to the Board. The Board

8

upheld Ecology's determination, finding on summary judgment that the undisputed location of the Klineburgers' property in both the FEMA floodway and the channel migration zone of the Snoqualmie River provided evidence of flood-related erosion under WAC 173-158-076(1)(b) and barred their project. AR 501–13. The Board denied the Klineburgers' Petition for Reconsideration. AR 611–13.

The Klineburgers appealed the Board's decision to King County Superior Court, adding the claim that the application of the erosion standard denied them equal protection under the law. CP 4–23.<sup>5</sup> The Superior Court upheld the Board's decision and determined that the application of WAC 173-158-076(1)(b) did not deny the Klineburgers equal protection under the law. CP 1–3. At the Court of Appeals, the Klineburgers no longer questioned the determination that RCW 86.16.041 and WAC 173-158-076 prohibited them from rebuilding a residence on their property. Instead, they claimed the application of WAC 173-158-076(1)(b) constituted a regulatory taking of private property, violated their substantive due process rights, and violated their right to equal protection. *See Klineburger v. Ecology*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 1077 (2018) (Klineburger II) (unpublished). The Court of Appeals ruled that the

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  This reference to Clerk's Papers is to the Clerk's Papers designated in this second round of litigation.

takings and substantive due process claims were not ripe, and found thatthe Klineburgers had not been denied equal protection. *Klineburger II*,4 Wn. App. 2d at \*6. The Klineburgers now seek review by this Court.

#### C. THE KLINEBURGER CASE DOES NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only: (1) if the decision by the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). None of the issues raised by the Klineburgers meet this criteria.

#### 1. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with *Powers*

The Klineburgers assert that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Powers v. Skagit County*, 67 Wn. App. 180, 835 P.2d 230 (1992). Petition at 4. The Klineburgers are mistaken. The two decisions are consistent.

Both the Powers court and the Klineburger court applied the

takings analysis articulated in *Guimont v. Clarke*, 121 Wn.2d 586, 854 P.2d 1 (1993), and the substantive due process analysis developed in *Presbytery of Seattle v. King County*, 114 Wn.2d 320, 787 P.2d 907 (1990).

In *Powers*, the Court of Appeals ruled that there were insufficient facts in evidence to determine whether the application of RCW 86.16.041 to Mr. Powers' property deprived him of all economically viable use of his property. *Powers*, 67 Wn. App. at 191–92. The court did not review the application of the statute to the property in question. Rather, it assumed the statute precluded residential development on his property and then analyzed whether this prohibition violated Mr. Powers' constitutional rights. *Id.* at 183–84. The court found there were insufficient facts in evidence to determine whether Mr. Powers had been deprived of all economically viable use of his property. *Id.* at 195. Likewise, the court found there was insufficient information to engage in the balancing process required to determine whether Mr. Powers' substantive due process rights had been violated. *Id.* It therefore remanded the matter for the trial court to make that determination. *Id.* 

Similarly, in the Klineburgers' case, the Court of Appeals did not evaluate whether RCW 86.16.041 and WAC 173-158-076 applied to the Klineburgers' property. Rather, the court looked at whether the application

11

of those laws violated the Klineburgers' constitutional rights.

*Klineburger II*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at \*2–3. As an initial matter, the Court of Appeals determined that the issue was not ripe because the Klineburgers had not presented any evidence they had been deprived of *all* economically viable use of their property. *Klineburger II*, 4 Wn. App. 2d at \*3. The court also found the substantive due process claim unripe because evidence in the record was not sufficient to engage in the required balancing test. *Id.* at \*5.

The Court of Appeals went on to hold that no taking had occurred because the regulations at issue provided only a public benefit and had not impaired all uses of the Klineburgers' property. *Id.* at \*4. The court also found no violation of the Klineburgers' substantive due process rights because the Klineburgers had failed to show the regulation was unduly oppressive. *Id.* at \*5.

The fact that the *Powers* court remanded the case and the *Klineburger* court did not does not constitute a conflict between the two cases. Both cases apply the same legal principles and reach similar conclusions. The difference in the resolution of the two cases arises from the difference in their procedural postures: The Klineburgers combined their appeal of the underlying permitting decision with their constitutional claims, while Powers filed a separate takings lawsuit in superior court.

12

This difference does not establish a basis for review by this Court because there is no disputed legal principle at stake for this Court to resolve.

As noted above, the Court of Appeals decision in this case is also consistent with the takings analysis articulated in *Guimont*, and the substantive due process analysis developed in *Presbytery of Seattle*.

Thus, there is no basis for this Court to grant review.

#### 2. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Lucas v. South Carolina Council*

The Klineburgers make the conclusory statement that WAC 173-158-076(1)(b) is unconstitutional under *Lucas v. South Carolina Coastal Council*, 505 U.S. 1003, 12 S.Ct. 2886, 120 L.Ed. 798 (1992). Petition at 5. *Lucas* provides that a regulation depriving a property owner of all economically viable uses of property is a taking of private property that requires compensation. *Lucas*, 505 U.S. at 1027–28. As the Court of Appeals found, *Klineburger II* at 3, the Klineburgers provide no facts or argument to establish that they have been deprived of all economically viable uses of their property.

The only statement in the Klineburgers' Petition concerning the remaining possible uses of their property is the assertion that on December 18, 2012, Ecology issued a letter stating that no development should be allowed on the Klineburger property. Petition at 2. However, the letter in question addresses only the rebuilding of a substantially damaged residential structure on the Klineburger property. AR 201–03. The letter makes no representations about other possible uses, and does not state that no development should be allowed. AR 201–03. As the Court of Appeals noted, "no government entity has made a decision about any other possible use" of the Klineburgers' property. *Klineburger II* at 3. Therefore, there has been no showing that the "total taking" standard in *Lucas* applies to the Klineburgers' property.

# **3.** The Klineburgers' issues of fact do not support their constitutional claims

Instead of providing facts concerning uses of their property, the Klineburgers raise three other purported issues of fact that they claim show their substantive due process violations and taking claims are ripe. Petition at 6. Those issues of fact concern (1) the flood depths at the Klineburger property, (2) the Klineburgers' expert's evaluation of floodrelated erosion on their property, and (3) the flood warning times for their property. Petition at 6–11. None of these factual issues are relevant to the question of whether the application of the state's flood laws deprives the Klineburgers of all economically viable uses of their property. Rather, they go to the underlying question of how the flood laws should apply to the Klineburgers' project in the first instance. In fact, the Pollution Control Hearings Board considered these three issues, and agreed with the Klineburgers that there are issues of fact concerning the flood depths<sup>6</sup> and flood warning times at their property, and therefore did not grant summary judgment on those issues.

AR 509–10. However, on the question of flood-related erosion, the Board determined that the location of the property in both the FEMA floodway and the channel migration zone constituted evidence of flood-related erosion. <sup>7</sup> AR 512. This conclusion meant that the Klineburgers had failed to establish all the criteria necessary under WAC 173-158-076 to allow their construction to proceed. On that basis, the Board dismissed the Klineburgers' appeal. The factual issues that the Klineburgers raise here are irrelevant.

# 4. This case does not involve any significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States

The Klineburgers assert that this case involves a significant

question of law under the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Klineburgers claim the Board misconstrued their evidence concerning flood depths. Petition at 7. In fact, the Board did not address the evidence concerning flood depths, noting only that there were facts in dispute on that issue that precluded summary judgment. AR 510.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Klineburgers claim the resume of their expert, William Taylor, shows that he worked on 27 other projects in the floodway, none of which were denied. Petition at 7. In fact, Mr. Taylor's resume says that he has worked on 27 projects in the floodplain not the floodway. AR 556. There is no indication that he has ever worked on a project in the floodway. *Id*.

the United States. Petition at 4. However, this Court should not consider that assertion as the Klineburgers provide no argument to support their claim. *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 648, 870 P.2d 313 (1994) (court will not address constitutional arguments unsupported by adequate briefing); *Havens v. C&D Plastics, Inc*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 169, 876 P.2d 435 (1994) (appellate court will not consider constitutional arguments that are not supported by adequate briefing).

In addition, resolving the constitutional issues the Klineburgers raise involves the routine application of settled case law, and does not raise any new or significant questions of law. *See, e.g.*, for takings claims: *Maple Leaf Investors, Inc. v. Dep't of Ecology*, 88 Wn.2d 726, 733, 565 P.2d 1162 (1977) (the prohibition on construction for human habitation within the floodway is not a taking or damaging of private property for public use in violation of the Washington Constitution Article 1, Section 16 and the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution); for substantive due process claims: *Cradduck v. Yakima County*, 166 Wn. App. 435, 447, 450–51, 271 P.3d 289 (2012) (ban on residential development in the floodway regulates problem activities or conditions, is not unduly oppressive, and does not violate substantive due process); for equal protection claims: *Maple Leaf Investors*, 88 Wn.2d at 733

16

(restricting development in the floodway is a valid exercise of the state's police power that does not violate the constitutional right to equal protection); and *Meridian Minerals Co. v. King County*, 61 Wn. App. 195, 214, 810 P.2d 31 (1991) (equal protection is not denied when the same legal standard is applied to all similarly situated land owners).

Because the Klineburgers have not met the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b), Ecology asks the Court to deny the Klineburgers' Petition for Review, if it reaches the merits of the Petition.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

The Court should deny the Klineburgers' Motion to Extend Time and preclude their untimely Petition for Review. Even if the Court proceeds to the merits, there is no reason for the Court's review. The Court of Appeals decision in this case is consistent with previous case law ///

||| ||| ||| |||

///

and does not involve any significant questions of law under the

Constitution.